Licensing Committee
Tuesday, 15 March 2022 at 6.30 p.m.
The Council Chamber, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place,
5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG

Agenda
Chair: Councillor Shah Ameen
Members
Vice-Chair: Councillor Shad Chowdhury
Councillor Rajib Ahmed, Councillor Amina Ali, Councillor Kevin Brady, Councillor Dipa
Das, Councillor Peter Golds, Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain, Councillor Eve
McQuillan, Councillor Ayas Miah, Councillor Victoria Obaze, Councillor Mohammed
Pappu, Councillor Kyrsten Perry, Councillor Zenith Rahman and Councillor Dan
Tomlinson

[The quorum for the Licensing Committee is 3 Members]

Further Information
Reports for consideration, meeting contact details, public participation and more
information is available on the following pages.

Public Information
Viewing or Participating in Committee Meetings
The public are welcome to view this meeting through the Council’s webcast system.
Physical Attendance at the Town Hall is not possible at this time.

Meeting Webcast
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system.
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Contact for further enquiries:
Simmi Yesmin, Senior Democratic Services Officer,
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 4120
E-mail: simmi.yesmin@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web:http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be
found on our website from day of publication.
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for
the relevant committee and meeting date.
Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android
apps.

Scan this
code for an
electronic
agenda:

London Borough of Tower Hamlets
Licensing Committee
Tuesday, 15 March 2022
6.30 p.m.

PAGE
NUMBER(S)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
1.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

5-6

Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest in the Code of Conduct for
Members to determine whether they have an interest in any agenda item and any action
they should take. For further details, please see the attached note from the Monitoring
Officer.
Members are reminded to declare the nature of the interest and the agenda item it relates
to. Please note that ultimately it’s the Members’ responsibility to declare any interests
form and to update their register of interest form as required by the Code.
If in doubt as to the nature of your interest, you are advised to seek advice prior to the
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services

2.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)

7 - 24

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committees held
on 9th September and 11th October 2021 as an accurate record of the
proceedings.
3.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

3 .1

Night Time Economy visits and Enforcement Update

25 - 36

3 .2

Prosecutions and Appeals report

37 - 44

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE
MONITORING OFFICER
This note is for guidance only. For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for
Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI)
You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in
Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests;
(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as
husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to
be considered. Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence.
Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the
decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public
gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address
the Committee.
DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a
request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive.

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered –
(Non - DPIs)
You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts
or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to
bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose
or aimed at influencing public opinion.
Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:
 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to
impair your judgement of the public interest. If so, you must withdraw and take no part
in the consideration or discussion of the matter.

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest.
Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In
such matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding
Non DPI - interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph.
Guidance on Predetermination and Bias
Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.
Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting
In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the
matter.

Page 5

Further Advice contact: Janet Fasan, Monitoring Officer, Tel: 0207 364 4800.
APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)
Subject
Employment, office, trade,
profession or vacation

Prescribed description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member,
or towards the election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest)
and the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or
works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the
relevant authority.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class,
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 6

Agenda Item 2
LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE
HELD AT 6.30 P.M. ON THURSDAY, 9 SEPTEMBER 2021
COMMITTEE ROOM ONE - TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG
Members Present:
Councillor Shah Ameen (Chair)
Councillor Rajib Ahmed
Councillor Kevin Brady
Councillor Peter Golds
Councillor Eve McQuillan
Councillor Zenith Rahman

Members Virtually Present:
Councillor Ayas Miah
Councillor Dipa Das
Councillor Krysten Perry
Councillor Victoria Obaze
Councillor Shad Chowdhury

Apologies
Councillor Amina Ali
Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain
Councillor Mohammed Pappu
Councillor Dan Tomlinson
Others Present:
David Dadds
Yasin Baboo
Tom Lewis

–
–
–

(Legal Representative for Applicant)
(Applicant)
(Team Leader, Licensing)

–
–
–

(Principal Enforcement Lawyer)
(Principal Licensing Officer)
(Democratic Services Officer)

Officers Present:
Jonathan Melnick
Kathy Driver
Simmi Yesmin

Page 7

1

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021
1.

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made.

2.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
The minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 25th May 2021 were agreed
as a correct record.

3.

RULES OF PROCEDURE - LICENCES FOR SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT
VENUES
The rules of procedures were noted.

4.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

4.1

Application for a Renewal of a Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence for
Whites Gentleman's Club, 32 - 38 Leman Street, London E1 8EW - 20202021
At the outset of the hearing, Mr Jonathan Melnick, Principal Enforcement
Lawyer, on behalf of the Chair asked both parties for their view on adjourning
the consideration of the applications as the Committee understood that the
appeal decision was due to be heard by the magistrates’ court on 4th and 5th
November 2021. The Committee considered that awaiting the determination
of that appeal would be of benefit to the parties and to the Committee.
Mr David Dadds, Legal Representative on behalf of the applicant, opposed an
adjournment for three reasons. Firstly, that the Committee should not proceed
to a determination based on the prior decision. Secondly, there was a right of
appeal from the magistrates’ court to the Crown Court. Finally, he hoped to be
given an opportunity to persuade the Committee to grant the applications
today, which would have a bearing on the appeal.
Mr Tom Lewis, Team Leader Licensing, expressed concern that there was a
possibility that the appeal hearing date may change. If the appeal was certain
to be heard in November then he would have no objection to an adjournment
but, in light of that uncertainty, he too was of the view that the applications
should be heard and determined as scheduled.
Members adjourned the meeting at 7.00pm to consider this proposal and
reconvened at 7.15pm.
In light of the parties’ representations, the Committee decided to proceed with
the applications as scheduled. The parties agreed to a suggestion by Mr
Melnick that both applications would be considered together since the issues
raised and the submissions to be made were identical. Two separate
decisions, however, would be issued.
At the request of the Chair, Ms Kathy Driver, Licensing Officer, briefly
introduced the report for the application for the renewal of a Sexual

Page 8

2

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

Entertainment Venue Licence for Whites Gentleman’s Club, 32-38 Leman
Street, London E1 8EW. Members and all interested parties noted the reports
as read.
Mr Dadds began by asking if Members had read the supplemental agenda
which included the summary of submissions made on behalf of the applicant,
to which Members confirmed they had. He asked Members to keep an open
mind and allow him the opportunity to persuade them to reconsider the
previous decision made.
Mr Dadds highlighted the fact that Mr Yasin Baboo, Applicant, had been on
anti-depressant medication since the reported incident in 2019, and this had
been due to the trauma of the refusal of the application. He said that the
serious allegations made had caused tremendous harm to the applicant.
It was noted that the renewal applications for 2020/2021 and 2021/2022 had
not received any objections from residents, police or Councillors. Mr Dadds
stated that the CCTV footage did not match what the undercover operatives
had said as there were many discrepancies in their witness statements. The
CCTV footage showed that there was no one in the VIP rooms at the times
the undercover operatives had claimed to have been there.
He said that Council Officers on 29th August 2019 had forensic engineers
check the CCTV footage and it was confirmed that it had not been tampered
with. However, this information was not disclosed until March 2020 and
therefore Members had not been informed of this at the time of the hearing in
September 2019. They may therefore have heard assertions that the CCTV
could haved been tampered with, and that the decision made may have been
wrong in light of this information.
Mr Dadds said that there was no information about the undercover operatives
who had apparently resigned from their jobs and were not cooperating with
the Licensing Authority. Mr. Dadds said that the first release of the CCTV
footage, totalling 17½ hours (but spanning a time period of about 2½ hours),
showed that the undercover operatives did not do what they claimed to have
done. He says that the Licensing Authority then trawled through that footage
and used it to find other breaches. He said that using CCTV for a different
purpose was unlawful and a breach of data protection. He said that further
footage was provided, but it was redacted. It was said to have been provided
for the purpose of showing that the operatives were being untruthful. Mr.
Dadds asserted that there was no breach of condition 12 as it did not require
the footage to be downloaded and provided; simply that it be made available
for viewing.
Mr Dadds said that Mr Baboo was of good character and a responsible
licensee and should be treated as such. He accepted that there were some
breaches, but it didn’t mean that Mr Baboo was aware of this and approved it.
At this point Mr Dadd’s explained all the measures and further steps taken in
ensuring that incidents of touching did not occur in the future. This included all

Page 9

3

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

staff and door staff having been retrained, additional staff employed to monitor
CCTV, the VIP rooms and private booths.
He said that prior to May 2019 there had been no matters arising during
renewal applications. It was noted that in the last 27 months, the premises
had been trading for 12 months with no cause for concern and no complaints
and this demonstrates that the premises can operate well.
Mr. Dadds accepted, when asked by Mr. Lewis, that condition 35 did not
restrict touching to only that of a sexual nature. Mr. Dadds responded that
Adrian Studd, a retired police officer, had viewed the CCTV footage and that it
was his opinion that the condition related to touching of a sexual nature. He
accepted that it was a breach but that it needed to be dealt with
proportionately. In Mr. Studd’s opinion, the appropriate course of action was
to retrain and discipline the performers.
In response to questions from Members, the following was noted;
-

-

-

-

-

That it was accepted that touching was a breach of conditions.
That additional steps had been put in place to prevent incidents of
touching to occur in the future.
There were 2 bar staff, 2 waitresses, 8 SIA door staff and 1 member of
staff to monitor CCTV and the private rooms.
SIA staff will inform management, the performer and also keep a
register if there is any inappropriate touching.
That random spot checks of the CCTV footage is undertaken and a
member of staff is constantly monitoring the CCTV whilst premises is in
operation.
There were questions and concerns raised as to why the CCTV
footage of the private booths were not provided.
The explanation given by Mr. Baboo was that he was panicking
following the allegations being made by the undercover operatives and
that he spent hours reviewing the footage trying to locate the incidents.
He thought he had downloaded the footage but in actual fact hadn’t
and accepted this as his mistake.
It was highlighted that the applicant was asked to download and
provide the CCTV footage to officers as part of the conditions, and was
not asked to look for the breaches.
That systems were now in place for this not to happen again.
Concerns were raised why till receipts were not provided, Mr. Dadds
told the Committee that they had been provided and that condition 32,
which is the condition that required production of receipts, related to
the VIP rooms.
That the undercover operatives had unexpectedly resigned.
That the applicant accepted that he had made a mistake by not
downloading the CCTV footage for the private booths.

The members adjourned the meeting for a short break at 8.30pm and
reconvened at 8.38pm.

Page 10

4

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

At the request of the Chair Mr Tom Lewis, explained that the letters sent to
the applicant requesting CCTV footage did not detail the nature of the
breaches of conditions and therefore the applicant would not have known
what to search for in the CCTV footage. He explained that the applicant was
written to on 13th June 2019 asking for CCTV footage of the rooms and
booths but had no response. On 2nd July 2019 the applicant was written to
again and it was only on 18th July 2019 that officers were able to view the
CCTV footage with Mr Dadds. He stressed the length of time taken before
being able to view the CCTV footage was unacceptable.
Mr. Lewis’s objection mainly referred to the failure to provide all of the CCTV
sought and the failure to retain the footage from the booths, as well as the
failure to provide receipts for payments for private dances. These failings
gave him cause for concern about the applicant’s suitability to comply with the
licence conditions and gave him no confidence that the applicant would cooperate fully in the event of future investigations.
Mr. Lewis also referred to the applicant’s failure to provide unredacted CCTV
footage which, in his view, further highlighted the applicant’s unwillingness to
co-operate with the authority. He accepted that the additional steps that Mr.
Baboo said he had taken would provide some assistance but he remained of
the opinion that in the event of further issues arising, the same problems
would be experienced.
In response to a question from Mr Dadds, Mr Lewis confirmed that prior to
these events he had confidence in the management of the premises and that
since the decision of September 2019 he had not been made aware of any
other matters. However, he also stated that prior to 2019 he had had no
reason to doubt the ability of the management to adhere to the conditions of
the licence.
In response to questions from Members, it was noted;
-

-

It was accepted that condition 12 of the licence had been breached.
That there had been no requests for CCTV images made in the last 12
months.
The operatives were from an independent external company and were
not council officers.
It was confirmed that the missing footage related to the private booths,
rather than the private rooms, and that the most serious allegations
related to the private booths.
That CCTV images provided confirmed touching was occurring.

Both parties made concluding remarks.

Decision
The Committee considered two applications by Whites Venues Ltd. to renew
the SEV licence held in respect of Whites Gentleman’s Club, 32-38 Leman

Page 11

5

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

Street, London, E1 8EW (“the Premises”). The applicant previously held an
SEV licence for the Premises which expired on 31st May 2019. The
application to renew that licence came before the Committee on 3 rd
September 2019 and the application was refused pursuant to paragraph 12(3)
of Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
on the basis that the applicant was unsuitable to hold a licence “for any other
reason” due to failures in the management of the Premises, a lack of
cooperation with the licensing authority, and concerns as to its ability to
operate in accordance with its SEV licence.
The applicant has appealed the decision to refuse to renew the premises
licence. The Committee understands that the effect of the appeal is that its
decision does not take effect unless and until it is upheld by the magistrates’
court (and subject to any further right of appeal). The applicant therefore
needed to submit renewal applications for both the 2020/21 year and the
2021/22 year. The first application was of course affected by the coronavirus
pandemic hence both renewal applications coming before the Committee at
the same time. Both applications were objected to by Tom Lewis, Licensing
Manager for the Council.
The Committee understood that the appeal decision was due to be heard by
the magistrates’ court on 4th and 5th November 2021. In light of that, the
Committee canvassed the parties’ views on an adjournment of these
applications pending the determination of that appeal. It appeared to the
Committee that the determination on the appeal, particularly as the appeal
was due to be heard very soon, might be of some assistance.
Mr. Dadds, solicitor for the applicant, opposed an adjournment for three
reasons. Firstly, that the Committee should not proceed to a determination
based on the prior decision. Secondly, there was a right of appeal from the
magistrates’ court to the Crown Court. Finally, he hoped to persuade the
Committee to grant the applications today, which would have a bearing on the
appeal.
Mr. Lewis was expressed concern that there was a possibility that the appeal
hearing date may change. If the appeal was certain to be heard in November
then he would have no objection to an adjournment but, in light of that
uncertainty, he too was of the view that the applications should be heard and
determined as scheduled.
In light of the parties’ representations the Committee decided to proceed with
the applications as scheduled. The parties acceded to a suggestion by the
Legal Adviser to the Committee that both applications should be considered
together since the issues raised and the submissions to be made were
identical.
The main focus of the parties’ submissions related to the CCTV and the
applicant’s failure to provide all of it to the licensing authority during the
course of its investigation. There was no dispute that what had been provided
was accurate and had not been tampered with. There was no dispute that the
undercover operatives had apparently resigned from their jobs and were not

Page 12

6

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

cooperating with the licensing authority. Mr. Dadds said that the first release
of the CCTV footage, totalling 17½ hours (but spanning a time period of about
2½ hours), showed that the undercover operatives did not do what they
claimed to have done. He says that the licensing authority then trawled
through that footage and used it to find other breaches. He says this is a
breach of data protection.
When further footage was provided, it was redacted. It was said to have been
provided for the purpose of showing that the operatives were being untruthful.
Mr. Dadds asserted that there was no breach of condition 12 as it did not
require the footage to be downloaded and provided; simply that it be made
available for viewing.
Mr. Dadds accepted, when asked by Mr. Lewis, that condition 35 did not
restrict touching to only that of a sexual nature. Mr. Dadds responded that
Adrian Studd, a retired police officer, had viewed the CCTV footage and that it
was his opinion that the condition related to touching of a sexual nature. He
accepted that it was a breach but that it needed to be dealt with
proportionately. In Mr. Studd’s opinion, the appropriate course of action was
to retrain and discipline the performers.
Mr. Dadds and Mr. Baboo, the director of the applicant, told the Committee of
further steps taken to ensure that incidents of touching did not occur in future,
which included staff being in radio contact with one another and one person,
and one person monitoring the CCTV screens.
The Committee asked about the missing CCTV footage relating to the private
booths. The explanation given by Mr. Baboo was that he was panicking
following the allegations being made by the undercover operatives and that he
spent hours reviewing the footage trying to locate the incidents. He thought he
had downloaded the footage.
Mr. Lewis’s objection referred to the failure to provide all of the CCTV sought
and the failure to retain the footage from the booths, as well as the failure to
provide receipts for payments for private dances. These failings gave him
cause for concern about the applicant’s suitability to comply with the licence
conditions and gave him no confidence that the applicant would co-operate
fully in the event of future investigations.
Mr. Lewis’s representation also referred to the applicant’s failure to provide
unredacted CCTV footage which, in his view, further highlighted the
applicant’s unwillingness to co-operate with the authority. He accepted that
the additional steps that Mr. Baboo said he had taken would provide some
assistance but he remained of the opinion that in the event of further issues
arising, the same problems would be experienced.
Mr. Lewis confirmed, when questioned by Mr. Dadds, that prior to these
events he had confidence in the management of the Premises and that since
the decision of September 2019 he had not been made aware of any other
matters. However, he also stated that prior to 2019 he had had no reason to
doubt the ability of the management to adhere to the conditions of the licence.

Page 13

7

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

On further questioning from Members of the Committee Mr. Lewis confirmed
that the missing footage related to the private booths, rather than the private
rooms, and that the most serous allegations related to the private booths.
Whilst the thrust of both parties’ submissions focused on the previous history,
the Committee’s function is not to revisit that decision or to consider whether
any aspects of it are right or wrong. That, ultimately, is a matter for the
magistrates’ court on appeal to consider. Regardless of the initial reports of
the undercover operatives, those are not the basis of the objection before us.
The objection was focused on the fact that the CCTV footage obtained
showed breaches of the SEV licence that were entirely separate to those said
to have been witnessed by the undercover operatives. Similarly, not all of the
footage sought had been provided and so the Committee is not in a position
to know whether the undercover operatives were truthful in respect of the
allegations that had been made relating to the behaviour of performers in the
private booths.
The Committee notes that there is before it very little new information. Part of
this is of course due to the coronavirus pandemic. Mr. Dadds informed the
Committee that following the hearing in September 2019 the applicant traded
under the licence, as it was entitled to do, until the first lockdown arising from
the coronavirus pandemic. Following that, the Premises were closed and only
re-opened in July 2021. Whilst the Premises has therefore been able to trade
for some time, the fact is that it has only operated for about twelve months out
of the last twenty-four.
Mr. Dadds suggested that the Committee should have regard to the fact that
no further concerns have been raised by any authority. Mr. Lewis confirmed to
the Committee that he had not been made aware of any concerns but that the
pandemic had affected the ability of Council staff to undertake any further
monitoring. The Committee noted that the Premises would have been closed
from March 2020 to July 2021. Whilst the Committee therefore notes that
there have been no complaints raised since the decision of 3 rd September
2019, that is of limited weight in the circumstances.
The real concern of the Committee is whether it can have confidence in the
applicant and its management. It is accepted that there were breaches of the
licence conditions. Mr. Dadds asserts that the Committee should have regard
to the statement of Adrian Studd, who says that refusal would be
disproportionate. However, it is for the Committee to determine what action, if
any, ought to be taken.
The Committee noted that the applicant took over the Premises in January
2019 and that the problems came to the attention of the licensing authority
just a few months later. The Committee considered it reasonable to Infer that
the breach of the condition relating to touching was not isolated and that it
was more likely than not to have happened on other nights.
The touching was a clear breach of condition 35 of the standard conditions.
However, of most concern was the failure of the applicant to provide the

Page 14

8

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

CCTV footage for the private booths. This was said to have been a genuine
mistake on Mr. Baboo’s part. However, the Committee found it a matter of
grave concern that this footage could not be provided. The most serious
breaches were said to have occurred in the private booths; the CCTV
evidence, which Mr. Dadds told the Committee was “the best evidence”, was
not available for those booths; this prevented the authority from investigating
what took place there. Further, despite Mr. Dadds’ submissions to the
contrary, the Committee considers that condition 12 did require the footage to
be downloaded and supplied. In any event, the premises’ management had
done that in respect of all the footage requested by the authority with the
exception of the booths. The Committee notes Mr. Lewis’s submission that he
asked for that footage twice. At best, this failure to retain and provide the
CCTV gives the Committee doubt as to the confidence it can have in the
applicant in future; at worst, if there was a deliberate deletion (which the
Committee need not determine), then that would inevitably mean that the
applicant was unsuitable to hold a licence.
Similarly, Mr. Lewis asked twice for receipts for certain receipts. Mr. Dadds
told the Committee that they had been provided and that condition 32, which
is the condition that required production of those receipts, related to the VIP
rooms. The Committee did not consider that the condition was limited in that
way.
The Committee’s unanimous decision is therefore to refuse to renew the
application for an SEV licence for the period from 1st June 2020 to 31st May
2021, by reason of paragraph 12(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982, namely that the applicant was unsuitable to hold a
licence “for any other reason”, namely due to its failure to operate the
premises in accordance with the SEV licence conditions, to cooperate with the
licensing authority in its investigation and supervision of the Premises, and to
manage the Premises responsibly. The Committee had no confidence that the
Premises would be managed properly and in accordance with the licence
conditions in the future nor did it have any confidence in the applicant’s
willingness and ability to co-operate with any future investigations. In making
this decision the Committee had regard to the 1982 Act and to the Council’s
SEV Licensing Policy.

4.2

Application for a Renewal of a Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence for
Whites Gentleman's Club, 32 - 38 Leman Street, London E1 8EW - 20212022
The Committee considered two applications by Whites Venues Ltd. to renew
the SEV licence held in respect of Whites Gentleman’s Club, 32-38 Leman
Street, London, E1 8EW (“the Premises”). The applicant previously held an
SEV licence for the Premises which expired on 31st May 2019. The
application to renew that licence came before the Committee on 3rd
September 2019 and the application was refused pursuant to paragraph 12(3)
of Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
on the basis that the applicant was unsuitable to hold a licence “for any other
reason” due to failures in the management of the Premises, a lack of

Page 15

9

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

cooperation with the licensing authority, and concerns as to its ability to
operate in accordance with its SEV licence.
The applicant has appealed the decision to refuse to renew the premises
licence. The Committee understands that the effect of the appeal is that its
decision does not take effect unless and until it is upheld by the magistrates’
court (and subject to any further right of appeal). The applicant therefore
needed to submit renewal applications for both the 2020/21 year and the
2021/22 year. The first application was of course affected by the coronavirus
pandemic hence both renewal applications coming before the Committee at
the same time. Both applications were objected to by Tom Lewis, Licensing
Manager for the Council.
The Committee understood that the appeal decision was due to be heard by
the magistrates’ court on 4th and 5th November 2021. In light of that, the
Committee canvassed the parties’ views on an adjournment of these
applications pending the determination of that appeal. It appeared to the
Committee that the determination on the appeal, particularly as the appeal
was due to be heard very soon, might be of some assistance.
Mr. Dadds, solicitor for the applicant, opposed an adjournment for three
reasons. Firstly, that the Committee should not proceed to a determination
based on the prior decision. Secondly, there was a right of appeal from the
magistrates’ court to the Crown Court. Finally, he hoped to persuade the
Committee to grant the applications today, which would have a bearing on the
appeal.
Mr. Lewis was expressed concern that there was a possibility that the appeal
hearing date may change. If the appeal was certain to be heard in November
then he would have no objection to an adjournment but, in light of that
uncertainty, he too was of the view that the applications should be heard and
determined as scheduled.
In light of the parties’ representations the Committee decided to proceed with
the applications as scheduled. The parties acceded to a suggestion by the
Legal Adviser to the Committee that both applications should be considered
together since the issues raised and the submissions to be made were
identical.
The main focus of the parties’ submissions related to the CCTV and the
applicant’s failure to provide all of it to the licensing authority during the
course of its investigation. There was no dispute that what had been provided
was accurate and had not been tampered with. There was no dispute that the
undercover operatives had apparently resigned from their jobs and were not
cooperating with the licensing authority. Mr. Dadds said that the first release
of the CCTV footage, totalling 17½ hours (but spanning a time period of about
2½ hours), showed that the undercover operatives did not do what they
claimed to have done. He says that the licensing authority then trawled
through that footage and used it to find other breaches. He says this is a
breach of data protection.

Page 16

10

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

When further footage was provided, it was redacted. It was said to have been
provided for the purpose of showing that the operatives were being untruthful.
Mr. Dadds asserted that there was no breach of condition 12 as it did not
require the footage to be downloaded and provided; simply that it be made
available for viewing.
Mr. Dadds accepted, when asked by Mr. Lewis, that condition 35 did not
restrict touching to only that of a sexual nature. Mr. Dadds responded that
Adrian Studd, a retired police officer, had viewed the CCTV footage and that it
was his opinion that the condition related to touching of a sexual nature. He
accepted that it was a breach but that it needed to be dealt with
proportionately. In Mr. Studd’s opinion, the appropriate course of action was
to retrain and discipline the performers.
Mr. Dadds and Mr. Baboo, the director of the applicant, told the Committee of
further steps taken to ensure that incidents of touching did not occur in future,
which included staff being in radio contact with one another and one person,
and one person monitoring the CCTV screens.
The Committee asked about the missing CCTV footage relating to the private
booths. The explanation given by Mr. Baboo was that he was panicking
following the allegations being made by the undercover operatives and that he
spent hours reviewing the footage trying to locate the incidents. He thought he
had downloaded the footage.
Mr. Lewis’s objection referred to the failure to provide all of the CCTV sought
and the failure to retain the footage from the booths, as well as the failure to
provide receipts for payments for private dances. These failings gave him
cause for concern about the applicant’s suitability to comply with the licence
conditions and gave him no confidence that the applicant would co-operate
fully in the event of future investigations.
Mr. Lewis’s representation also referred to the applicant’s failure to provide
unredacted CCTV footage which, in his view, further highlighted the
applicant’s unwillingness to co-operate with the authority. He accepted that
the additional steps that Mr. Baboo said he had taken would provide some
assistance but he remained of the opinion that in the event of further issues
arising, the same problems would be experienced.
Mr. Lewis confirmed, when questioned by Mr. Dadds, that prior to these
events he had confidence in the management of the Premises and that since
the decision of September 2019 he had not been made aware of any other
matters. However, he also stated that prior to 2019 he had had no reason to
doubt the ability of the management to adhere to the conditions of the licence.
On further questioning from Members of the Committee Mr. Lewis confirmed
that the missing footage related to the private booths, rather than the private
rooms, and that the most serous allegations related to the private booths.
Whilst the thrust of both parties’ submissions focused on the previous history,
the Committee’s function is not to revisit that decision or to consider whether

Page 17

11

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

any aspects of it are right or wrong. That, ultimately, is a matter for the
magistrates’ court on appeal to consider. Regardless of the initial reports of
the undercover operatives, those are not the basis of the objection before us.
The objection was focused on the fact that the CCTV footage obtained
showed breaches of the SEV licence that were entirely separate to those said
to have been witnessed by the undercover operatives. Similarly, not all of the
footage sought had been provided and so the Committee is not in a position
to know whether the undercover operatives were truthful in respect of the
allegations that had been made relating to the behaviour of performers in the
private booths.
The Committee notes that there is before it very little new information. Part of
this is of course due to the coronavirus pandemic. Mr. Dadds informed the
Committee that following the hearing in September 2019 the applicant traded
under the licence, as it was entitled to do, until the first lockdown arising from
the coronavirus pandemic. Following that, the Premises were closed and only
re-opened in July 2021. Whilst the Premises has therefore been able to trade
for some time, the fact is that it has only operated for about twelve months out
of the last twenty-four.
Mr. Dadds suggested that the Committee should have regard to the fact that
no further concerns have been raised by any authority. Mr. Lewis confirmed to
the Committee that he had not been made aware of any concerns but that the
pandemic had affected the ability of Council staff to undertake any further
monitoring. The Committee noted that the Premises would have been closed
from March 2020 to July 2021. Whilst the Committee therefore notes that
there have been no complaints raised since the decision of 3 rd September
2019, that is of limited weight in the circumstances.
The real concern of the Committee is whether it can have confidence in the
applicant and its management. It is accepted that there were breaches of the
licence conditions. Mr. Dadds asserts that the Committee should have regard
to the statement of Adrian Studd, who says that refusal would be
disproportionate. However, it is for the Committee to determine what action, if
any, ought to be taken.
The Committee noted that the applicant took over the Premises in January
2019 and that the problems came to the attention of the licensing authority
just a few months later. The Committee considered it reasonable to Infer that
the breach of the condition relating to touching was not isolated and that it
was more likely than not to have happened on other nights.
The touching was a clear breach of condition 35 of the standard conditions.
However, of most concern was the failure of the applicant to provide the
CCTV footage for the private booths. This was said to have been a genuine
mistake on Mr. Baboo’s part. However, the Committee found it a matter of
grave concern that this footage could not be provided. The most serious
breaches were said to have occurred in the private booths; the CCTV
evidence, which Mr. Dadds told the Committee was “the best evidence”, was
not available for those booths; this prevented the authority from investigating
what took place there. Further, despite Mr. Dadds’ submissions to the

Page 18

12

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 09/09/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

contrary, the Committee considers that condition 12 did require the footage to
be downloaded and supplied. In any event, the premises’ management had
done that in respect of all the footage requested by the authority with the
exception of the booths. The Committee notes Mr. Lewis’s submission that he
asked for that footage twice. At best, this failure to retain and provide the
CCTV gives the Committee doubt as to the confidence it can have in the
applicant in future; at worst, if there was a deliberate deletion (which the
Committee need not determine), then that would inevitably mean that the
applicant was unsuitable to hold a licence.
Similarly, Mr. Lewis asked twice for receipts for certain receipts. Mr. Dadds
told the Committee that they had been provided and that condition 32, which
is the condition that required production of those receipts, related to the VIP
rooms. The Committee did not consider that the condition was limited in that
way.
The Committee’s unanimous decision is therefore to refuse to renew the
application for an SEV licence for the period from 1 st June 2021 to 31st May
2022, by reason of paragraph 12(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982, namely that the applicant was unsuitable to hold a
licence “for any other reason”, namely due to its failure to operate the
premises in accordance with the SEV licence conditions, to cooperate with the
licensing authority in its investigation and supervision of the Premises, and to
manage the Premises responsibly. The Committee had no confidence that the
Premises would be managed properly and in accordance with the licence
conditions in the future nor did it have any confidence in the applicant’s
willingness and ability to co-operate with any future investigations. In making
this decision the Committee had regard to the 1982 Act and to the Council’s
SEV Licensing Policy.

The meeting ended at 9.30 p.m.

Chair, Councillor Shah Ameen
Licensing Committee

Page 19

13

This page is intentionally left blank

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 11/10/2021

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE
HELD AT 6.00 P.M. ON MONDAY, 11 OCTOBER 2021
COMMITTEE ROOM ONE - TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG
Members Present:
Councillor Shah Ameen (Chair)
Councillor Shad Chowdhury
Councillor Peter Golds
Councillor Zenith Rahman
Councillor Dan Tomlinson
Councillors Present Virtually:
Councillor Amina Ali
Councillor Kevin Brady
Councillor Eve McQuillan
Councillor Mohammed Pappu
Councillor Victoria Obaze
Apologies
Councillor Rajib Ahmed
Councillor Dipa Das
Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain
Councillor Ayas Miah
Councillor Kyrsten Perry

Officers Present:
Tom Lewis
Jonathan Melnick
David Tolley

–
–
–

Simmi Yesmin

–

1.

(Team Leader - Licensing Services)
(Principal Lawyer-Enforcement)
(Head of Environmental Health and
Trading Standards)
(Democratic
Services
Officer,
Committees, Governance)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

2.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

Page 21

1

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 11/10/2021
2.1

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

Cumulative Impact Assessment Policy 2021 - 2024
Mr David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health and Trading Standards,
introduced the report and explained that the Council must review its
Cumulative Impact Assessment Policies (CIA) every 3 years. As part of the
review the Council is to carry out statutory consultation in the same way as
specified for reviewing the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy.
It was noted that the Brick Lane Cumulative Impact Area had been in place for
7 years and the Bethnal Green Cumulative Impact Area for 3 years. It was
noted that the consultation process took place between 28th January and 22nd
April 2021 and that this report would go to overview and scrutiny, cabinet and
then to Full Council for adoption in November 2021.
Mr Tolley explained that the CIAs seek to help limit the number or types of
licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence that show that
the number or density of licensed premises is having a cumulative impact in
an area or leading to problems that undermine the four licensing objectives.
Mr Tolley, detailed the consultation process and the responses received and
then referred to the list of consultees in appendix 3 of the report. He went on
to explain that the online response asked two main questions to which 55%
wanted the Brick Lane CIA to remain and 58% wanted the Bethnal Green CIA
to remain.
It was noted that during the consultation, residents asked if the Bethnal Green
CIA could be extended to create one large CIA encompassing the areas
between the CIAs and Columbia Road. Mr Tolley explained that the review of
the CIAs in Brick Lane and Bethnal Green did not include any proposal to extend
into the Weavers or Bethnal Green extensions. Therefore, to extend the CIAs as
suggested would require another statutory consultation, where the Council would
need to consider if there was sufficient evidence that, crime and disorder or
nuisance related to the cumulative impact of licensed premises is occurring within
the Weavers and/or Bethnal Green extensions. Due to the number of requests for
this proposal, Officers collated information on the number of licensed premises in
the area, the number and types of complaints received etc. and in conclusion it
did not appear that the area had a high saturation of licensed premises within the
proposed extension area.
In response to questions the following was noted;
-

-

Officers to report back to the Committee with a breakdown of the
reported number of crime and disorder the Police attend to in Tower
Hamlets especially in the CIAs in comparison to other neighbouring
boroughs.
Concerns raised as to why applications in the CIA areas are being
approved, it was noted that these could be because of a range of
things, such as small offerings of alcohol, robust conditions,
demonstrating exceptional circumstances, or successfully rebutting the
presumption of not negatively impacting on the area.

Page 22

2

LICENSING COMMITTEE, 11/10/2021
-

-

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

That the onus was on the applicant to demonstrate how they would not
negatively impact on the CIA area, by providing a more detailed
application.
An enforcement report would be brought to the next committee meeting
which will include information about the number of licensed premises,
the number of complaints received and the enforcement actions taken
etc.

The Committee welcomed the report.
The Chair moved and it was RESOLVED;
1. The report be noted.

The meeting ended at 6.35 p.m.

Chair, Councillor Shah Ameen
Licensing Committee

Page 23

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3.1
Non-Executive Report of the:

Licensing Committee
15th March 2022
Report of: David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health
and Trading Standards Directorate of Place

Classification:
Unrestricted

Night Time Economy visits and Enforcement Update
Originating Officer(s)
Wards affected

Tom Lewis, Team Leader – Licensing and Safety
Whole Borough

1.

Summary

1.1

This report reviews late night inspections to licensed premises undertaken by
the Environmental Health and Trading Standards Service. The objective was to
carry out late night visits to premises where intelligence received alleged a
contravention of the Licensing Act 2003. The programme utilised Officers from
across Environmental Health and Trading Standards. Many of the enforcement
visits included test purchasing to investigate compliance.

1.2

The operation was run biweekly on Friday and Saturday evenings between the
hours of either 21:00 and 02:00 hours or 22:00 and 03:00 hours depending on
service need.

1.3

These late night visits investigated a variety of alleged issues relating to licensed
premises, such as:

premises undertaking licensable activities without a Licence.



premises alleged to be breaching with conditions and restrictions detailed in
their licence.



licensed premises that have failed to pay the annual Licence fee and/or
Late Night Levy Charge and have had their Licence suspended yet have
been identified as continuing to carrying out licensable activities.



premises alleged to undermining the one or more of the Licensing Objectives.

While Coronavirus Business Restrictions were in place these operations were
used to check business compliance with these restrictions.
1.4

This report is concerned with the enforcement visits undertaken in 2020/21 and
April 2021 to date (end of January 2022) and the achievements of these visits.

1.5

It is important to mention that due to the ongoing coronavirus pandemic that

Page 25

took hold at the beginning of 2020 these late night visits were suspended
during the initial national restrictions (lockdown) period between end of March
and end of June 2020. These visits resume following the restrictions being
lifted on 4th July 2020, but ceased again by the end of October due to the
November Lockdown coming into force. Visits then did not resume until the
Summer of 2021 because of the Tier Restrictions and National Lockdown that
began in December 2020 until the start of the Summer 2021. We are now
back to completing these visits on a bi-weekly basis.
2.

Recommendations:
The Licensing Committee is recommended to:-

2.1 Note the activity that has been undertaken by the Environmental Health and
Trading Standards Service with regards to regulating Late Night Licensed
Premises.
3 Reasons for Decisions:
3.1

This is a noting report to advise the Licensing Committee of the outcome of
the inspections and no decision is required.

4 Alternative Options:
4.1

We could decide not to carry out any enforcement activity but this would lead
to widespread non-compliance.

5. Background
5.1

There are approximately 1,282 licensed premises within the London Borough
of Tower Hamlets. Licensed premises include bars, pubs, clubs, restaurants,
off-licenses, late night takeaway, and café type premises. Premises
undertaking licensable activities must have a licence under the Licensing Act
2003 authorising them to carry out one or more licensable activities. The
licence will state the times they are permitted to carry out these licensable
activities and may also have conditions, in addition to the mandatory
conditions, specific to the individual premises. All such matters detailed on
the licence are to ensure the promotion of the four Licensing Objectives. The
late night visits are to check on compliance with the Licensing Act 2003, in
respect of premises where intelligence received suggests non-compliance.

5.2

Where non-compliance is witnessed and a breach of the Licensing Act 2003
is established, appropriate and proportionate action is taken in line with the
Council’s Enforcement Policy. This action can include:





Warning Letters (including onsite report left),
Representations against licence applications
Application to review of premises licence,
Investigation for prosecution.

Page 26

5.3

Such formal action is a graduated approach and the type of action will depend
on such matters as compliance history of the premises, attitude of Licensee,
extent and seriousness of the breach.

5.4

As well as formal action as highlighted above these visits have provided
evidence to the Licensing Authority (Acting as a Responsible Authority) to
make representations against the granting of applications in respect of the
Licensing Act 2003.

5.5

Late Night visits outcomes
A total of 94 inspections were undertaken in 2020/21 with 19 premises
receiving warning letters. This gives a non-compliance rate of 20%. Further
to this there were 37 premises were found to be non-compliant with
Coronavirus Business Restrictions. Six of these being found non-compliant
on more than one occasion. There was 1 successful prosecution in 2020/21.
Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of visits per ward and Appendix 2 provides
a breakdown of warning letters sent per ward.

5.6

In 2021/22 (up to 31st January 2022) there was a total of 126 visits with 12
premises receiving warning letters. This gives a non-compliance rate of 10%.
Further to this there were 9 premises were found to be non-compliant with
Coronavirus Business Restrictions. Two of these being found non-compliant
on more than one occasion. Appendix 3 provides a breakdown of visits per
ward and Appendix 4 provides a breakdown of warning letters sent per ward.

5.7

In 2020/21 there were considerably less visits than 2019/20, and though the
2021/22 figures only go up to end of January 2022, we won’t get to similar
numbers of visits as we have pre-pandemic. That said the figure between
2020/21 and 2021/22 have increased, which is directly related to the lifting of
coronavirus business restrictions. Non-compliance has changed with a 12%
drop to 10%, which is similar to pre-pandemic rates of non-compliance. It is
also likely that the 20% non-compliance in 2020/21 is linked to the majority of
the Coronavirus Restrictions occurring in this year. As such enforcement
visits would, and have, increased given warnings for offences relating to noncompliance with Coronavirus Restrictions as well as Licensing Offences. It
should also be mentioned that though the above show what may appear high
figures for non-compliance with coronavirus business restrictions the Service
found that the majority of Licensed Premises were fully compliant with the
restrictions. Thus, this does not show that there was a large degree of noncompliance with coronavirus business restrictions with the licensed trade in
the borough.

5.8

Despite the lower visits the intelligence gathered as an outcome of these visits
has resulted in one prosecution for Licensing Offences and another for Smoke
Free Offences. The latter relating to a Shisha bar.

5.9

Appendix 5 demonstrates the number of prosecutions and outcomes during
2020/21 as a result of the late-night inspections. It also should be noted that
as a result of these visits 6 FPNs were served on Licensed Premises. Five for
Offences under the All Tiers Coronavirus Business Restrictions and one for
offences under the Step 2 Coronavirus Business Restrictions.

Page 27

5.11

There are not any current prosecutions that are being worked through in
relation to recent late night inspection non-compliances. This is due to visits
focussing on ensuring licensed premises adhered to initially the Step 2 and
then Step 3 Coronavirus Business Restrictions and promoting Vaccination
and Testing.

6 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
6.1

There are no equalities implications.

7 OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
7.1

Best Value implications: Ensuring that fees are obtained from regulated
commercial activity.

7.2

Environmental considerations: There are no environmental implications

7.3

Crime reduction: One of the key licensing objectives of the Council ensure
that it does not licence premises that are liable to be a source of crime and
disorder. The Council supports and assists with crime and disorder reduction
by controlling those who manage premises open to members of the public and
imposing conditions on relevant premises licences. Illegal activity has been
proven to occur at the premises.

7.4

Safeguarding: There are no proven safeguarding impacts; however, premises
that are managed in this way may employ underage persons or vulnerable
adults. Therefore, there may be a positive safeguarding impact. We also
identify premises that may be selling to underage customers and are then
able to take preventative measures.

7.5

Risk Management: The Council will be at risk of legal challenge if its
processes are not transparent and evidentially based.

8

COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

8.1

There are no decisions required and therefore no financial implications arising
from this noting report, which provides an update on the outcomes of late
night inspections to licensed premises, undertaken by the Environmental
Health and Trading Standards Service during 2020-21 and 2021-22 (up to the
end of January 2022).

8.2

The costs associated with inspections and prosecutions are contained within
existing budget provision.

8.3

As a result of these inspections, in 2020-21 five fixed penalty notices totalling
£5,000 were issued to licensed premises due to non-compliance with
Coronavirus Business Restrictions, and in 2021-22 (up to the end of January)
one has been issued at £1,000.

Page 28

9

COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES

9.1

The Council, when exercising its functions under the Licensing Act 2003, is
required to do so with a view to the promotion of the licensing objectives.
These are: the prevention of crime and disorder; the prevention of public
nuisance; public safety; the protection of children from harm. Compliance
visits and subsequent appropriate enforcement action, such as warnings,
licence reviews, or prosecution, ensures that the four licensing objectives are
promoted by licensed premises in the borough.

9.2

Other relevant legal considerations are contained in the body of the report.

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents
Linked Report


NONE.

Appendices
Appendix 1: 2019/20 No. of visits per ward
Appendix 2: 2019/20 No. of warning letters per ward
Appendix 3: 2020/21 to date (31st October 2020) No. of visits per ward
Appendix 4: 2020/21 to date (31st October 2020) No. of warning letters per ward
Appendix 5: 2019/20 Successful Prosecutions and outcomes
Appendix 6: 2020/21 to date (31st October 2019) Successful Prosecutions and
outcomes

Page 29

Appendix 1
2020/21 - No. of visits per ward

Inspections 2020/21
Ward
Bethnal Green
Bromley South
Bow East
Bow West
Canary Wharf
Island Gardens
Lansbury
Limehouse
Mile End
St. Dunstan's
Shadwell
St. Katherine's and Wapping
Spitalfields and Banglatown
St. Peter's
Stepney Green
Whitechapel
Weavers
(blank)
Grand Total

No. of
visits
6
1
5
3
2
3
9
1
5
10
5
3
23
5
1
6
5
1
94

Page 30

Appendix 2
2020/21 - No. of warning letters per ward
Warning Letters 2021/21
Ward
Bow West
Canary Wharf
Lansbury
Mile End
Shadwell
St. Dunstan's
Spitalfields and Banglatown
St. Peter's
St Katherine’s Dock and
Wapping
Whitechapel
Weavers
(blank)
Grand Total

No. Warning
Letters
1
2
1
1
1
3
2
1
2
2
3
19

Page 31

Appendix 3
2021/22 to date (end January 2022) - No. of visits per ward
Inspections 2021/22 to date
Ward
Blackwall and Cubitt Town
Bethnal Green
Bow East
Bow West
Canary Wharf
Island Gardens
Lansbury
Mile End
St. Dunstan's
St. Katherine's and Wapping
Spitalfields and Banglatown
St. Peter's
Stepney Green
Whitechapel
Weavers
(blank)
Grand Total

No. of
Visits
1
4
15
2
4
5
3
1
6
7
23
23
3
4
24
1
126

Page 32

Appendix 4
2021/22 to date (end January 2022) - No. of warning letters per ward
Warning Letters 2021/22 to
date
No. of
Warning
Ward
Letters
Lansbury
2
St. Peter's
3
Spitalfields
and
Banglatown
1
Weavers
6
(blank)
Grand
Total
12

Page 33

Appendix 5
Premises Prosecuted:
Hearings Held in 2020-21
1. Pink Lemonade, 568 Mile End Road
Offence date: 14th August 2020
Pink Lemonade Lounge Limited & Mr Jonathan Rahim, Company Director:
Breach of the Health Act 2006

Company found allowing shisha to be smoked inside the above address. This
premises for the purposes of the above Act is a Smoke Free Premises (i.e. one
that is open to the public or used by more than one person for purposes of work,
and is more than 50% substantially enclosed).
Premises was warned on more than one occasion and formally written to in
relation to the Health Act 2006 and their duties under it to prevent smoking inside
the premises. Visits were also made with the majority ending in no access being
granted or a long delay of 10 to 20 minutes before being allowed in to the
premises.
Despite this Officers, under a Warrant obtained from the Court, gained entry with
the Met Police and found the Company was failing to prevent smoking of Shisha.
In fact they were found providing and facilitating the use of shisha pipes to
customers inside their premises.
Officers also seized 9 shisha pipes along with a couple of tubes of shisha
flavours and a few shisha accessorises.
Case was heard under the Single Justice of the Peace.
Result:
Pink Lemonade Lounge Limited
Fine: £440
Costs: £2526.94
Victim surcharge: £44
The total £3010.94
Mr Jonathan Rahim, Company Director
Fine: £440
Victim surcharge: £44
An order was made for forfeiture regarding paraphernalia seized.

Page 34

Appendix 6
Premises Prosecuted:
Hearings Heard April 2021 – present (31st January 2022)
1. La Cucina, 96 Brick Lane
Offence date: 28th August 2020
Mr Anamul ISLAM t/a La Cucina
Mr Mohammod SUZON
Breach of Licensing Act 2003 - Section 136
They were found carrying out licensable activities (provision of late nght
refreshment) beyond permitted hours on the Premises Licence again on the date
of the offence. This was despite a formal written warning on 17th June 2020 and
numerous verbal warnings. Mr Islam pleaded guilty to this offence on 4th October
2021 and was sentenced as follows:
Fine: £350
Costs: £730.20
Victim surcharge: £35
Total £1,115.20
The case against Mr. Suzon was adjourned to 1st November 2021 and he was
convicted in his absence. He was sentenced as follows:
Fine: £500.00
Costs: £730.30
Victim surcharge £50.00
Total: £1,280.30

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3.2
Non-Executive Report of the:

Licensing Committee
15th March 2022
Report of: Director Legal & Monitoring OfficerGovernance

Classification:
Unrestricted

Update in relation to Prosecutions and Appeals – Quarter 4 2020/2021
Quarters 1-3 2021/2022
Originating Officer(s)
Wards affected

Jonathan Melnick – Principal Lawyer – Enforcement
All wards

Summary
1.1
At its meeting on 4th June 2013, the Licensing Committee requested that
regular reports should be prepared for the Licensing Committee giving details
of licensing enforcement activity and specifically as to outcomes of
prosecutions and appeals.
1.2

This report provides details of completed licensing related prosecutions
and appeals for Quarter 4 2020 to 2021 (January to March 2021 and
Quarters 1 – 3 2021 (April to June 2021, July to September 2021 and
October to December 2021).

Recommendations:
The Licensing Committee is recommended to:
1. Consider and comment upon the information provided in the report.
1.

REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1

This report is for the information of the Committee and no specific decisions
are required.

2.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1

N/A

1

Page 37

3.

DETAILS OF REPORT

3.1

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets is a Licensing Authority and
amongst its functions are a requirement to: ensure compliance with
conditions imposed on the licences that it grants; take action against
unlicensed premises; and will be the respondent to any appeal against a
decision of the Licensing Committee or its Sub-Committee.

3.2

Where the Council takes enforcement action to ensure compliance with
conditions etc. then it does so in accordance with the Council’s
Enforcement Policy. The Enforcement Policy provides that the Council's
approach to enforcement is founded on firm but fair regulation, around the
principles of:
 raising awareness of the law and its requirements
 proportionality in applying the law and securing compliance
 consistency of approach
 transparency about the actions of the Council and its officers
 targeting of enforcement action.

3.3

Further, as a Licensing Authority the Council has a duty under section 4 of
the Licensing Act 2003 to carry out its licensing functions with a view to
promoting the licensing objectives and in carrying out such functions must
also have regard to its own statement of licensing policy and the statutory
guidance issued pursuant to section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.

3.4

This report does not deal only with Licensing Act 2003 matters but also
those under the Gambling Act 2005 and Special Treatment Licences
granted under the London Local Authorities Act 1990.

Prosecutions
3.4

During Quarter 4 2020/2021 and Quarters 1-3 2021/2022 the following
prosecutions were concluded:

Quarter 4 20/21
1 Madiha Catering Ltd.(Halal Fried
Chicken)
Provision of unauthorised late night
refreshment

Outcome:
Fine £200.00
Costs £468.00
Victim surcharge £34.00

Abdul Aziz

Fine £200.00
Costs £468.00
Victim surcharge £34.00

Abdul Hye

Fine £100.00

2

Page 38

Costs £468.00
Victim surcharge £34.00
Date of haring: 25th January 2021
2 A Portuguese Love Affair Deli Café
Ltd.
Unauthorised sale of alcohol

Summons withdrawn following
dissolution of company.

Date of hearing: 25th January 2021
3 Mohammed Abdul Hafiz (B2B Café)
Provision of unauthorised late night
refreshment

Fined £200.00
Costs £2,772.76
Victim surcharge £34.00

Date of hearing: 22nd March 2021
4 Jerrin Store Ltd. (All in One)
Sale of tobacco to a person aged
under eighteen

Fined £500.00
Costs £500.00

Mohammed Shilu Chowdhury
Failure to keep licence on premises,
failure to produce premises licence,
carrying on unauthorised licensable
activity,

Fined £750.00 (charge 1) and
£250.00 (charge 3). Charge 2
withdrawn
Costs £500.00
Victim surcharge £75.00

Shak Kamruzzaman
Sale of tobacco to a person aged
under eighteen

Fined £250.00
Costs £203.29
Victim surcharge £32.00

Date of hearing: 22nd March 2021
Quarter 1 21/22

No licensing proceedings
concluded in this period. This can
be partly attributed to the Covid-19
pandemic.

Quarter 2 21/22
1 New Deal Trading Ltd. (New Road
Off-licence)
Underage sale of alcohol, display of
tobacco products to a person aged
under eighteen

Outcome
Fined £500.00 for underage sale.
No separate penalty for tobacco
offence
Costs £500.00
Victim surcharge £50.00

Abdul Halim
Underage sale of alcohol, display of
tobacco products to a person aged
under eighteen

Fined £161.00 for underage sale.
No separate penalty for tobacco
offence
Costs £400.00
Victim surcharge £32.00

3

Page 39

Mohammed Abdul Khan
Underage sale of alcohol

Fined £80.00
Costs £100.00
Victim surcharge £32.00

Date of hearing: 2nd August 2021
Quarter 3 21/22
1 Anamul Islam (La Cucina)
Provision of unauthorised late night
refreshment

Outcome
Fined £50.00
Costs £730.20
Victim surcharge £35.00

Date of hearing: 4th October 2021
Mohammed Suzon
Provision of unauthorised late night
refreshment

Fined £500.00
Costs £730.20
Victim surcharge £50.00

Date of hearing: 1st November 2021
2 Patrick Walsh
Carrying on unauthorised licensable
activity x2
Date of hearing: 1st November 2021

Mr. Walsh had initially been dealt
with in his absence on 5th March
2020 and fined £7,500.00 per
offence and ordered to pay costs
£1,971.53 and the victim surcharge
of £170.00. He subsequently made
a statutory declaration and the
case was re-opened:
Fined £3,000.00 (charge 1).
Charge 2 withdrawn
Costs £1,971.53
Victim surcharge £170

3 Saban Bozkurt
Underage sale of alcohol

Fined £440.00
Costs £454.66
Victim surcharge £44.00

Yusef Alma
Underage sale of alcohol

Fined £660.00
Costs £454.66
Victim surcharge £66.00

Date of hearing: 8th December 2021

Appeals
During Quarter 4 20/21 no appeals were concluded.
During Quarters 1, 2 & 3 21/22, eight (8) appeals were concluded.

4

Page 40

The outcome of the appeals are as follows:
No

Case Details
Quarter 4 2020/21

Outcome
Outcome
No appeals were concluded in this
quarter. This is likely to be
attributable to the pandemic.

Quarter 1 21/22
East London Pub Co. Ltd.
The Gun
54 Brushfield Street
London, E16AG
Appeal against decision to grant
variation of licence in part

Outcome
Appeal withdrawn on 7th June
2021

Quarter 2 21/22
Noodle and Beer Ltd.
Unit 6, 31 Bell Lane
London, E1 7LA

Outcome
Appeal dismissed on 5th July 2021
due to appellant’s failure to attend
court

1

1

1

Appeal against refusal of premises
licence
2

3

Ash Store Ltd.
141 Commercial Road
London, E1 1PX

Appeal dismissed on 5th July 2021
due to appellant’s failure to attend
court.

Appeal against revocation of
premises licence

Further hearing on 15th December
2021 for application to set aside
decision of 5th July 2021.
Dismissed due to appellant’s
failure to attend court.

Steven Fairman
The Queen’s Head
8 Flamborough Street
London, E14 7LS

Appeal settled by consent on 23rd
August 2021 and revocation to
take effect 31st August 2021.
Appellant to pay Council costs of
£720.00

Appeal against revocation of
premises licence
4

Appeal allowed on 15th September
2021. LBTH to pay Appellant’s
costs of £27,000.00 plus VAT

Future Leisure Ltd.
10 Brick Lane
London, E1 6RF
Appeal against refusal of premises

5

Page 41

licence under the Gambling Act
2005
5

Wombats London Ltd.
Wombats City Hostel
7 Dock Street
London, E1 8LL

Appeal settled by consent and
variation granted in part on 23rd
August 2021
No order as to costs.

Appeal against decision to refuse
variation of licence and the
imposition of conditions

1

2

Quarter 3 21/22
Suryakani Patel
TSB News
77 Vallance Road
London, E1

Outcome
Appeal dismissed 29th November
2021. Appellant to pay costs of
£895.00

Boxpark Ltd.
Boxpark Shoreditch
2-10 Bethnal Green Road
London
E1 6GY

Appeal allowed by consent 17th
December 2021
No order as to costs.

Appeal against refusal to grant
provisional statement
4.

COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

4.1

This report describes the Council’s licensing enforcement activity and the
outcomes of prosecutions and appeals for Quarter 4 of 2020/21 and
Quarters 1 to 3 of 2021/22.

4.2

The revenue realised from the imposition of costs by the court is received
by the Council in order to offset the costs incurred in bringing and
defending prosecutions. However, it should be noted that costs are at the
discretion of the court and full costs recovery orders may not always be
made.

5.

COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES

5.1

Any legal implications are addressed in the body of the report.

5.2

At the time of the last report (18th March 2021), the coronavirus pandemic
had had a significant impact on the court process. Only the most urgent
work was being conducted by the magistrates’ courts (where these
appeals are heard and all criminal proceedings are started) in the first six
months of the pandemic. This led to huge backlogs. Many local authorities
did not start having cases listed for hearing in court until around January
2021. That led to licensing prosecutions and appeals being significantly

6

Page 42

delayed and listed for hearings months ahead. That backlog has reduced
significantly, especially in respect of prosecutions.
5.3

Licensing appeals, however, are often not dealt with as a priority by the
courts and pre-pandemic it was not unusual to wait several months after
an appeal had been lodged to have the first hearing date. It was similarly
not uncommon for the court to advise that an appeal had not been lodged,
only to inform the Council months (or, as in two cases in the above list,
years) later, that an appeal had in fact been lodged. That remains the
case.

6.

ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS

6.1

Enforcement action that complies with the five principles expressed in the
Council’s enforcement policy should help to achieve the objectives of
equality and personal responsibility inherent in One Tower Hamlets.

6.2

The enforcement policy should enhance Council efforts to align its
enforcement action with its overall objectives disclosed in the Community
Plan and other key documents such as the local area agreement and the
Local Development Framework. For example, one of the key Community
Plan themes is A Great Place to Live. Within this theme there are
objectives such as reducing graffiti and litter. The enforcement policy
makes clear the need to target enforcement action towards such perceived
problems. At the same time, the enforcement policy should discourage
enforcement action that is inconsistent with the Council's objectives.

6.3

The exercise of the Council's various enforcement functions consistent
with the enforcement policy and its principles should also help achieve the
following key Community Plan themes-

•

A Safe and Cohesive Community. This means a safer place where feel
safer, get on better together and difference is not seen as a threat but a
core strength of the borough.
A Great Place to Live. This reflects the aspiration that Tower Hamlets will
be a place where people live in quality affordable housing, located in clean
and safe neighbourhoods served by well-connected and easy to access
services and community facilities.
A Prosperous Community. This encompasses the objective that Tower
Hamlets will be a place where everyone, regardless of their background
and circumstances, has the aspiration and opportunity to achieve their full
potential.

•

•

6.4

An equality analysis was conducted prior to approval of the revised
enforcement policy by Cabinet on 3 October 2012. A further equality
analysis was done on 16th September 2011 in relation to touting
prosecutions. It is recognised that Enforcement action may lead to indirect
discrimination in limited circumstances but prior to taking any proceedings,
an assessment as to whether the case meets the two stages in the Code
for Crown Prosecutors is undertaken so that there is both a realistic

7

Page 43

prospect of a conviction and that it is in the public interest to prosecute.
Further, proceedings are kept under review once initiated.
7.

BEST VALUE (BV) IMPLICATIONS

7.1

There are no specific best value implications arising from this noting report

8.

SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

8.1

The enforcement policy seeks to target the Council’s enforcement action in
accordance with the Community Plan. The Community Plan contains the
Council’s sustainable community strategy for promoting or improving the
economic, social and environmental well-being of Tower Hamlets and
contributing to the achievement of sustainable development in the United
Kingdom. To the extent that the enforcement policy aligns enforcement
action with the Community Plan it will tend to promote sustainable action
for a greener environment. [

9.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Enforcement action carries with it a variety of inherent risks, including the
potential for allegations of over- or under-enforcement, discrimination,
adverse costs orders and damage to the Council’s reputation. It is
considered that proper adherence to the Council's policies, the Licensing
Objectives, the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and the section
182 guidance will ensure that risks are properly managed.

10.

CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1 One (1) of the four (4) Licensing Objectives is Crime and Disorder and
enforcement promotes that Licensing Objective. Enforcement will also
play its part in helping to drive down crime and which in turn will reduce
fear of crime and ASB levels helping to promote a healthier, happier and
more cohesive community. This will have efficiency benefits for adult
social care and public health costs by keeping people healthier and more
active for longer.
_________________________________
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents
Linked Report
•
None
Appendices
•
None
•
None
Officer contact details for documents: Jonathan Melnick, Principal
Enforcement Lawyer, 0207 364 4337.
E-mail:

jonathan.melnick@towerhamlets.gov.uk

8

Page 44

